Grand Isle Supervisory Union
School Board Meeting
Thursday, January 24, 2019, at 6:30 p.m.
Location: North Hero Education & Community Center

Agenda
Call to Order
1. Call to Order (M. Maltais) 6:30 p.m.
2. Adjust the Agenda (M. Maltais) 6:31 p.m.
3. Citizens and/or Staff to be Heard 6:35 p.m.
4. Consent Agenda (M. Maltais) (Action) 6:40 p.m.

a. Approve the minutes from 11/26/2018
Reports
5. Superintendent's Report (M. Clark)(Discussion) 6:45 p.m.
Financial Report (R. Gess) (Action)

Board Business.

6. Presentation from Director of Student Support Services (M. Weaver)(Discussion) 6:50 p.m.
Current
Act 173
7. Update of tracking audit findings (R. Gess)(Discussion) 7:10 p.m.
8. Compensation for required lawsuit attendance (M. Clark){Action) 7:20 p.m.
9. GISU space update (M. Clark){Discussion)(Possible Action) 7:30 p.m.
10. Equalized Pupils (Discussion) (M. Clark) 7:45 p.m.
11. Six Month Status Update (Discussion) (M. Clark) 7:50 p.m.
12 Integrated Field Review (Discussion) (M. Clark) 8:05 p.m.
13. E-finance Plus Update and Support (Discussion) (R. Gess) 8:10 p.m.
14. RFPs (Discussion) (R. Gess) 8:20 p.m.
Food
Transportation
15. Grant Double payment (FY 17) (Discussion) (M. Clark) 8:25 p.m.
16. Residency Update (Discussion) (M. Clark) 8:35 p.m.
17 Instructional Coach Approval{Action)}{M. Clark) 8:40 p.m.
18. Approval of the Financial Management Questionnaire (Action)(R. Gess) 8:45 p.m

19. Approval of Director of Student Support Services/Contract (Executive Session){Action)8:55 p.m.
20. Other

Closure
21. Setting the next agenda (M. Maltais) (Discussion) 9:05 p.m.
22. Adjourn (M.Maltais) (Action) 9:10 p.m.

Note: Executive Session: If discussion warrants, and the Board so votes, some items may be discussed
in Executive Session pursuant to VSA 1 §313(a)



Discussion Items - Issues the Board needs to discuss and deliberate, but upon which no action is taken at this meeting.
Action Items - Issues that require the Board fo make a decision by vote, may have been discussed over several meetings prior to this point.

Consent Items - Routine matters that need no discussion by the Board, but require Board approval. They are grouped together as a single
agenda item. Background materials are provided in the Board packet to be reviewed ahead of the meeting. If there are no concerns, they are
approved with a single vote. Any member can request the Board remove an item to be discussed and voted on separately. This frees up time at

meetings.

Information Items [Incidental Information] - Matters the Board needs to know about, but for which no Board action is needed. The information
Sflow is one way, from presenter to the Board. Questions for clarification are entertained as time allows.



Grand Isle Supervisory Union
School Board
Monday, November 26, 2018 at 6:30 p.m.
Location: North Hero Education & Community Center

Minutes

Board Present: Joyce Tuck, Bridget Brisson, Nathan Robinson, Melanie Henderson, Bentley Vaughn,
Tim Maxham, Chet Bromley, Michael Inners, Mason Maltais (via phone, arrived at 7:34pm)
Community Present: Rick Brigham

Administration Present: Michael Clark, Robert Gess

Mason Maltais called the meeting to order at 6:40 pm via phone

Adjust the Agenda
Mason added audit engagement letter, add an action item to allow Melanie Henderson to facilitate
meeting, and report from Grand Isle board about member change

Mason made a motion via phone to have Melanie Henderson facilitate tonight's meeting in her capacity
as Board Clerk, Nathan seconded

Roll call vote: Mason Maltais in favor via phone, Michael Inners in favor, Melanie Henderson in favor,
Nathan Robinson in favor, Tim Maxham in favor, Bentley Vaughn in favor, Bridget Brisson in favor, Chet
Bromley in favor, Joyce Tuck in favor. Motion passed 9-0.

Michael Inners reported that he is the new member representing Gl, and Gary will be representing the
CIuUsD

Citizens and/or Staff to be Heard
None

Tim Maxham motioned to approve the minutes from 10/25/2018, with the addition that Bentley Vaughn
participated by phone and Gary opened meeting as vice chair, and that Melanie had the authority to
facilitate the meeting in her capacity as board clerk. Nathan Robinson seconded.

Roll call vote: Mason Maltais in favor via phone, Michael Inners abstained since he was not present,
Melanie Henderson in favor, Nathan Robinson in favor, Tim Maxham in favor, Bentley Vaughn in favor,
Bridget Brisson in favor, Chet Bromley in favor, Joyce Tuck in favor. Motion passed 9-0.

Administration Reports
Superintendent Michael Clark shared his report, including:

e Director of Student Support Services has been posted.

e Update on hearing from lawsuit: Hearing on November 16. At the hearing, the temporary
injunction and section the Title 16 references were withdrawn. Case now is strictly about violation
of open meeting law and judge is taking dismissal under advisement and will issue judgement in
written form.

o Acknowledge progress of GISU staff. 60% of staff started in July, 30% in second year, and
remaining 10% is starting the third year. Everyone at office is positive, upbeat, and willing to meet



a challenge. Every project is new and many times we are creating systems to get things done.
Work is becoming smoother and more predictable.

Rob Gess has provided most recent budget to actuals as a financial report.

e Training for new chart of accounts happening next week. Finance team is attending this training
next week. We are scheduled to transition July 1, 2019. Being proactive in switching over to new
chart of accounts by attending trainings.

e On track with GISU operating cost and special education will likely over-spend.

Tim Maxham motions that the budget to actuals has been received for Nov 26, 2018. Bentley Vaughn
seconded. Mason Maltais in favor via phone, Michael Inners in favor, Melanie Henderson in favor, Nathan
Robinson in favor, Tim Maxham in favor, Bentley Vaughn in favor, Bridget Brisson in favor, Chet Bromley
in favor, Joyce Tuck in favor. Motion passed 9-0.

Board Business.

Rick Brigham with Sullivan Powers & Co. reviewed audit process and findings of the fiscal year 2017
audit. Primary focus on audit report. Was able to provide an unqualified opinion. Material findings:
Reconcile balance sheet accounts and update to occur on a regular basis. Special education reports and
tying back to general ledger and trial balances. Having a review process to verify amounts fo prevent
errors. Controls over accounts payable put into place. Health insurance reconciled and accruals correct.
Significant deficiencies: fixed asset/ capital asset accounting process updated. Federal awards and
income verification related to hot lunch program put into place. Bentley Vaughn made a motion to accept
audit as presented, Tim Maxham seconded, all in favor. Motion passed 9-0.

Melanie Henderson reviewed the audit engagement letter and read the last paragraph that included fee
for the work to be completed. Action: accept audit engagement letter and allow Mason to sign: Mason
Maltais made a motion to accept the audit engagement letter and to allow him to sign as Board Chair,
Nathan Robinson seconded, all in favor. Motion passed 9-0.

Rob Gess passed out the second draft of the FY 20 budget. Michael Clark gave an overall picture of the
proposed budget. Michael Clark suggested to view as two separate budgets: Supervisory Union general
office expenditures, and cost of special education. Michael Clark reviewed the increase of health
insurance by 12%, and increase in Director of Curriculum FTE change in grant-funding, salary increases
for not only central office, but those also completing special services, employee benefits increase due to
more employees enrolling in insurance than previously, and non-personnel costs increased. Left in the
cost of accounting software, even though we will be switching to state accounting system. Second part is
what it costs to run special education. Every October SU must create service plan. FY 20 service plan
created this October, working under FY19 service plan. 15 extraordinary costs budgeted for FY19, there
were 26 total in FY 19. Forecasted 15, and there were actually 22. Michele Weaver has forecasted 22,
and there are 23 right now in the district. Transportation costs are very high within special education as
well. Going to overspend in transportation costs projected right now.

Rob Gess discussed line items and took questions from board members. Discussion took place regarding
the HRA and benefit costs. Technology refresh on the GISU, 60% of the equipment is over five years old,
leasing agreements have been discussed. Revenues will not be sent to us unti! late December to add into
the budget. Overall it is a 20% increase.



Melanie Henderson assessed that board either needs to pass budget or offer guidance as to what needs
to be looked into. Board asked Rob if there is any significant areas where there can be budget cuts.
Michael Clark reiterated that any surplus will negate any deficit. Concern voiced that one town is not
represented. Mason Maltais reiterated that following Robert's Rules, this board is authorized to take full
authorization. Members of town not represented need to contact their board members if they feel they are
not being fully represented. Noted that the majority of increase if driven by increase in high-cost students
and related to a reimbursement not currently shown in a line item.

Mason Maltais motioned to approve the Special Education FY20 expenditure of $4,040,042.81, Nathan
Robinson seconded, all in favor. Motion passed 9-0.

Michael Inners motions to approve the GISU operating budget of $1,707,153.41, Mason Maltais
seconded, all in favor. Motion passed 9-0.

Michael Clark shared that CIUUSD still interested in spending some off the transition grant funds for
renovations for the central office space. Most options are being looked into for cost comparison. Michael
meeting with modular office company tomorrow. CIUUSD does not feel it can bring GISU a $250,000
project.

Michael Clark reviewed current residency verification process. Once residency established, there is no
more paperwork and it is not verified again. It is monitored by Director of Student Support Services
throughout the year. Michael Clark is proposing a change in process. This process will be reviewed by
each individual town as well to be voted on at their next meeting. The proposed process includes
residency verification will be sent to each family in December of this year, to be returned by the end of
January. Michael reviewed drafted documentation. If forms not returned, families and schools will be
notified that tuition will not be paid. Then in June of 2019 and each year after, families will need to fill out
and return residency verification forms prior to tuition being paid. If a family moves, registration and
verification will need to be completed again. This will be mailed to parents. Michael Inners makes a
motion to have SU implement residency verification verification process as presented, Tim Maxham
seconded, all in favor. Motion passes 9-0.

Attorney with Lynn, Lynn, and Blackman requested Don Van Nostrand and Andy Julow come to office for
meeting ahead of scheduled court appearance time at 11:30 am and were dismissed from court at 2:45
pm. Neither are currently employed/ associated with GISU.. Discussion took place regarding payment for
their time. Subject tabled until next meeting.

Next Agenda

Presentation from special ed director
Tracking of audit findings (update)
Compensation for required lawsuit attendance

Mason Maltais motioned to enter executive session to evaluate a public employee, Nathan Robinson
seconded. All in favor. Board entered executive session at 9:20 pm.

Board exited executive session at 9:40 pm.

Mason Maltais made a motion to offer a 3-year contract to Michael Clark, with 0% increase in rate of pay
for FY20 (equal salary), 2% increase in rate of pay for FY21, and 4% increase in rate of pay for FY22.



Furthermore, the contract will be signed by the GISU board chair. The motion was seconded by Nathan
Robinson. All voted in favor. Motion passed 9-0.

Michael Inners made a motion to designate the January 24th, 2019 GISU meeting as a full board
meeting. The motion was seconded by Tim Maxham. All voted in favor. Motion passed 9-0.

Nathan Robinson made a motion to adjourn at 9:43 p.m. The motion was seconded by Bentley Vaughan.
All voted in favor. Motion passed 9-0.



Superintendent’s Report

January 2019

Announced Tuition Rates

At each of the board meetings this month boards will need to set their announced tuition rates for the
2019-2020. Rob will calculate what the allowable tuition each district is allowed to charge based an
Agency of Education formula. Section 836 of Title 16 is a mechanism for districts to true up their tuition
charges in December of the following year in the event they over or under billed by three percent.

Error in FY 17 Title Grant Payments

The AOE has notified GISU that in July of 2017 the AOE made a duplicate payment of Title 1 and Title 2
monies to the GISU. The result is an overpayment to the GISU in the amount of approximately $180,000
which the GISU will need to reimburse. | have contacted Emily Byrne (Chief Financial Officer for the
AOE) and Cassandra Ryan (Fiscal and Regulatory Compliance Coordinator for the AOE) to discuss how
this could have happened and to develop a plan to move forward. This meeting is scheduled to take
place on January 4, 2019. | will update the boards when | have more information.

Negotiations

Members of the GISU Executive committee met on Monday December 10, 2018 to begin preparing to
meet with the GISU Teacher’s Association. We have our first negotiations meeting with the teachers on
Tuesday, January 15" at 6:30 p.m. at the Grand Isle School.

Director of Student Services

A hiring advisory committee and | interviewed two candidates for the 2019-2020 Director of Student
Support Services. The committee supported the decision to move one candidate forward to the GISU
Board for approval. | will update you once the GISU board or executive committee has acted on the
Superintendent’s recommendation.

Update regarding lawsuit

Board Members

Judge Mello has ruled in favor of the GISU motion to dismiss the lawsuit. | have attached the
ruling which we received today. Below is the specific language from the judgment:

"The court having ruled that summary judgment be entered in favor of the Defendants in this
matter,

It is hereby ORDERED and ADJUDGED that the Plaintiff take nothing, that the action is
dismissed on the merits, and that the final judgment be, and hereby is entered in favor of the
Defendants."



This ruling brings the case to a close unless the decision is appealed to the VT Supreme Court
which | believe is unlikely.

| have attached the full judgment with this report.

Residency Verification Process

Residency Verification forms are being sent from the GISU office on January 4, 2019. This process has be
more time consuming then expected however we are still on track to receive forms back by the end of
January. | will update you on our progress during February’s meetings.

Thank you for the work you do to support education throughout the Islands.



STATE OF VERMONT

SUPERIOR COURT CIVIL DIVISION
Grand Isle Unit — - Docket No. 3-1-18 Gicv

LOUISE and MICHAEL KOSS, f/b/o
TAXPAYERS OF GRAND ISLE COUNTY,.

Plaintiffs
4 | Vermont Superior COUT
- ANDY JULOW, DONALD VAN NOSTRAND, and _ BEp - 700 Fited
ALL OTHER GRAND ISEL SUPERVISORY UNION ' )
BOARD MEMBERS, ~ Grand late Unit
Defendanis ' ' '

JUDGMENT -

The Court havmg ordered that summary Judgment be entered in favor of the Defendants
in this matter,

It is hereby ORDERED and ADJUDGED that the Plaintiff take nothing, that the action is
dismissed on the merits, and that final judgment be, and hereby is entered in favor of the
Defendants. :

SO ORDERED this 5" day of December, 2018

_/,,/4574 ////

Robert A. Mello, Superior Judge




STATE OF VERMONT .

SUPERIOR COURT ‘ CIVIL DIVISION
Grand Isle Unit Docket No. 3-1-18 Gicv
LOUISE KOSS and MICHAEL KOSS f/b/cI
Taxpayers of Grand Isle County, .
Plaintiffs,
V. Ve ‘mmtu“*“e»lor Court
ANDY JULOW, DONALD VAN DEC -1 2818 Fileq
NOSTRAND, and ALL OTHER GRAND , L
ISLE SUPERVISORY UNION BOARD Grand Isle Uit
MEMBERS, Rl
' Defendants.

* RULING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT"

. The Plaintiffs are residents of Isle La Motte, Vermont. The individually-
named defendants are Andy Julow, at relevant times a board member and chair of
both the Grand Isle Supervisory Union (GISU) and the newly-formed Champlain
Islands. Unified Union School District (CIUUSD), and Donald Van Nostrand, the
GISU Superintendent. The Plaintiffs allege that, in 2017, Julow, Van Nostrand and
other unnamed GISU Board Members violated Vermont’s Open Meeting Law, 1
V.S.A. §§ 310-314!. See Complaint (dated Jan. 22, 2018) at 1. They primarily seek
$1.875 million dollars in damages. Id. at 6. The Defendants have filed a Motion to
- Dismiss pursuant to V.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) (filed January 31, 2018), which the Court is
treating as a Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to V.R.C.P.12(b). For the
reasons set forth below, summary judgment in favor of the Defendants is granted.

I. Background

In relevant part, V.R.C.P. 12(b) instructs that, when a party asserts a defense
under Rule 12(b)(6) and “matters outside the pleading are presented to and not
excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment

- *The Complaint also sets forth a claim that Defendants violated 16 V.S.A. §§ 261 et seq. {governing supervisory
unjons). The Plaintiffs alleged that Andy Julow did not have a right to be a voting member or chair of the GISU

under Title 16. See Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Motion to Dismiss {filed March 12, 2018) at 1. At the November 16,
2018 hearing, the Plaintiffs withdrew that claim, thereby leaving only its Open Meetmg Law claim for the Court's
consideration.



and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable
opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such motion by Rule 56.” On
November 16, 2018, the Court heard oral argument on Defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss pursuant to V.R.C.P. 12(b)(6). That motion included as exhibits copies of
GISU and CIUUSD meetmg minutes.

In light of the parties’ argument and exhlblts appended to the Motion to
Dismiss, the Court converted the Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary -
Judgfnent and provided the parties notice and opportunity to submit additional
briefing and documents for the Court’s consideration. On November 25, 2018, the
Defendants submitted a Post-Hearing Supplemental Memorandum and appended
to it certified copies of GISU and CIUUSD board minutes (hereinafter “Defendants’
Post-Hearing Memo”). As of the date of this ruling, the Plaintiffs have not
submitted any additional materials for the Court’s review.

“The court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is
no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment
as a matter of law.” V.R.C.P. 56(a). The court may entér summary judgment
when, “after adequate time for discovery, a party fails to make a showing sufficient
to establish the existence of an element essential to her case and upon which she
has the burden of proof.” Gallipo v. City of Rutland, 2005 VT 83, T[ 18, 178 Vt.244
(citation omitted).

When determining whether there is a disputed issue of material fact, a court
must afford the party opposing summary judgment the benefit of all reasonable
doubts and inferences. Carr v. Peerless Insurance Co., 168 Vt. 465, 476 (1998)
However, a non-moving party cannot rely on unsupported generalities or
speculation to defeat a properly-supported motion for summary judgment. See
V.R.C.P. 56 (¢), (). “[Clonclusory allegations without facts to support them are
insufficient to survive summary judgment.” Robertson v. Mylan Laboratories, Inc.,
2004 VT 15, ¥ 48, 176 Vt. 356; accord Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242,

- 249 (1986) (“If the evidence is merely colorable, . . . or is not significantly probative,
., summary judgment may be granted.”) (citations omitted). Moreover, when
considering a motion for summary judgment, a court must not “accept[] opposing
_ counsel’s oral representations in open court as a proper response to the summary
judgment motion.” Gendreau v. Gorezyk, 161 Vt. 595, 596 (1993) (mem.). An
opposing party’s allegations must be supported by affidavits or other documentary
materials which show specific facts sufficient to justify submitting that party’s
claims to a factfinder. See Robertson, 2004 VT 15, § 15; Samplid Enterprises. Inc.
. v. First Vermont Bank, 165 Vt. 22, 25 (1996).

Upon review of the record and the parties’ submlssmns the Court ﬁnds the
" following material facts undisputed.’



‘Ori November 6, 2016, the voters of Grand Isle, North Hero, and Isle La
Motte voted to merge and form the CIUUSD. On July 1, 2018, the CIUUSD will
become operational and the school districts of the aforementioned towns will cease
to exist. :

The GISU presently consists of board members who represent the school
districts of Grand Isle, North Hero, Isle La Motte, South Hero, and Alburgh, as well
as the newly formed CIUUSD. The GISU board and its members are subJect to
Vermont's Open Meeting Law, set forth in 1 V.S.A. §§ 310- 314 '

On September 6, 2017, the CIUUSD met at Grand Isle School and discussed
several items, including whether the GISU Central Office should be moved to Grand
Isle School. See CIUUSD September 6, 2017 Meeting Minutes (appended to
Defendants’ Post-Hearing Memo as Exhibit 6).

On September 18, 2017, the GISU Board conducted a meeting which the.
November 16, 2018 hearing on the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss revealed as
providing a p1ima1y basis for Plaintiffs' complaint. The September 13, 2017
meeting minutes, in relevant part, 1eﬂect the following alleged proceduiral
irregularity:

Meeting called to order by Andy Julow at 6:37 p.m. Since there was
not a quorum at the start time of meeting, only informational 1tems will be
discussed at the beginning of the meeting.

Consent Agenda: No quorum present at this time. Item tabled. ...

GISU September 13, 2017 Meeting Minutes (appended to Defendants’ Post-

Hea1 ing Memo as Exhibit 7). These minutes further reflect that, after the note of
“no quorum present,” between 6:40 and 7:36 p.m., six additional board members

arrived, thereby providing a quorum for business and votes conducted after the 6:37
p.m, call of the meeting. See, e.g., id.at 2 (veflecting vote later in the meeting
seconded by Jane Zera, who arrived at 6:41 p.m.). The “Business of the Board”
eventually addressed a number of budgetary and administrative items, including an,
update on the CIUUSD merger process and a vote on who should be a voting
delegate for the “VSBA.” 1d.

On September 25, 2017, the CIUUSD met at Grand Isle School and
addressed efforts to comply with and receive full tax incentives pursuant to Act 46
and a continued discussion related to moving the GISU Central Office. CIUUSC
September 25, 2017 Meeting Minutes (appended to Defendants’ Post-Hearing Memo
as Exhibit' 8). On October 23, 2017, the CIUUSD met at Grand Isle School. The
Board discussed potential configurations for the proposed new offices at Grand Isle



School. The meeting notes also reflect that “[i]t is up to the GISU Supervisory
Union Board to approve the move to Grand Isle School.” CIUUSD October 23, 2017
Meeting Minutes (appended to Defendants’ Post-Hearing Memo as ExHhibit 9).

On November 21, 2017 the CIUUSD agam met and discussed matters
1e1ated to the office relocation: ‘ :

. Finalized SU Relocation Proposal: Handout provided by Andy
outlining current expenses for the GISU compared to what expenses would be
if the office was located at Grand Isle School. Andy also provided a copy ofa
lease to the board. Discussion took place regarding the lease. A few
corrections were brought up such as custodial services, insurance rates, and
changing “North Hero” to “Grand Isle” in section 8 of the lease.

Andy Julow made a motion to approve the draft lease of annual rent of
$31,114 plus the determined rate of insurance, adding specifications that
cleaning services are provided, there is an opt out clause for both parties,
there is a term limit of 5 years, and change #16 from North Hero to Grand
Isle. Second by N athan Robinson. A]l in favor.

CIUUSD November 27 Meeting Mmutes (appended to Defendants’ Post-
Hearing Memo as Exhibit 10). -

Two days later, the GISU met at North Hero School, apparently its first
meeting since September 13, 2017. Plaintiff Louise Koss and Defendant Andy Julow
were among those present. In relevant part, its minutes reflect the following:

. Adjust the Agenda: Louise Koss asked that the GISU board presently
ratify all votes from last meeting [on September- 13, 2017]. Andy Julow
stated it would be discussed at the next meeting, after a response has been
received from the district’s lawyer. No further adjustments were made.. ..

At this time in the meeting, Louise Koss gave her resignation from the-
GISU Board and the Isle L.a Motte Board. . ..

Relocating GISU Office & GISU Curriculum Office to Grand Isle
School: Andy Julow provided a map of the Grand Isle School space to be
utilized. Discussion took place regarding potential savings. Andy Julow
provided a handout outlining current expenses compared to future expenses
at the Grand Isle School. Andy Julow provided a copy of the lease that would -
be used for GISU and CIUUSD. Further discussion took place. Mason
Maltais made a motion to approve moving the Grand Isle Supervisory Union
offices to Grand Isle School, as approved by the CIUUSD. Second by Nathan
Robinson. Further discussion took place. It was noted that board members -



should have more time. to review the materials that were provided. It was
asked if there were any other options other than Grand Isle School. Mason
Maltais was asked if he would withdraw his motion. He opted not to. All in
favor of moving the GISU central offices to Grand Isle School: Nathan
Robinson, Andy Julow, Bridget Brisson, Mason Maltais, Dave Davis, Don
Bartlett, Gary Mackres and Melanie Henderson. Those opposed: David
Cain, Bentley Vaughan, Mallory Ovitt, Keri Johnson, Jane Zera, Mike
Savage and Ginni Wright. Motion passes. After a short discussion, it is
noted that Bridget Brisson cannot vote as a GISU member. For this reason,
the motion is tied, and fails. . ..

GISU November 29, 2017 Meeting Minutes (appended to Defendants’ Post-
Hearing Memo as Exhibit 11). :

Defendaﬁt Julow resigned his position on the CIUUSD, effective January 31,
2018. See January 22, 2018 CIUUSD Meeting Minutes (appended to Defendants’
" Post-Hearing Memo as Exhibit 12).

II. Discussion

From the aforementioned procedural history, the Plaintiffs argue that
Defendant Julow committed the following Open Meeting Law violations: (1) he held
a meeting on September 18, 2017 which lacked a quorum and on November 29,
2017, refused a request to ratify decisions made at the September 13 meeting; and
(2) he cancelled CIUUSD or CISD meetings on multiple, unidentified occasions
without authority or providing required notice to the public. The Court finds these
claims legally msufﬁment for a number of reasons.

A

As a threshold matter, it appears the Plaintiffs lack standing to bring this
action. “Because standing is a necessary component of the court’s subject-matter -
jurisdiction, it cannot be waived, and its absence can be raised at any time.” .
Bischoff v. Bletz, 2008 VT 16, ¥ 15, 183 Vt. 235. “Without standing, the court has
no jurisdiction over a petition for declaratory relief” Id. “Without the presence of
an actual or justiciable controversy, a declaratory judgment is merely an advisory
opinion which [the court] lacks[s] the constitutional authority to render.”
Negotiations Committee of Caledonia Central Supervisory Union v. Caledonia
Central Fducation Association, 2018 VT 18, § 9, 184 A.3d 236 (citation and
quotation marks omitted).

The Plaintiffs have failed to show how they were aggrieved by the actions
about which they complain. At oral argument, the Plaintiffs strenuously argued



~ that on September 13, 2017, the meeting was never formally “re-opened” when a

quorum of board members finally arrived. As discussed infra, that alleged
procedural impropriety does not implicate a violation of Vermont’s Open Meeting
Law.

In addition, Plaintiffs repeated their complaint that Defendants canceled

duly posted meetings with no advanced notice. However, the Plaintiffs have not

-identified which meetings were cancelled, and the record contains no suggestion
that any formally-noticed meeting was cancelled in bad faith or for any reason other

“than an anticipated inability to meet quorum as a result of board members’ non-
attendance. More importantly, the Plaintiffs are unable to identify any other
compensable harm they suffered as a vesult of such cancelled meetings and
therefore do not appear to have standing to bring this suit. See generally For the
Record (FTR) Recorded Transcript of November 16, 2018 Hearing at 1:59:18 ef seq.
Cf. Town of Brattleboro v. Deangelo, 2005 WL 5872160 (Vt. Super. June 30, 2005)
(Carroll, J.), affd sub nom., Town of Brattleboro v. Garfield, 2006 VT 56, § 19, 180
Vt. 90 (Even where plaintiff set forth violation of Open Meeting Law, “[blecause Mr.
K-Brooks failed to allege any injury, he was not ‘aggrieved’ under the statute and so
cannot pursue a private right of action.”).

B.

In addition, it does not appear that the Defendants, at any meeting,
conducted business or held votes in violation of the Open Meeting Law. Under 1
V.S.A. § 310(3)(A), a “meeting” is defined as “a gathering of a quorum of the
members of a public body for the purpose of discussing the business of the public
. body or for the purpose of taking action.” See Burch-Clay v. Taylor, 2015 VT 110,
18, 200 Vt. 166 (quotation marks omitted); accord 1 Am. Law. Zoning § 3A:5 (5% ed.)
(November 2018 Update). The Legislature’s clear delineation of a covered
“meeting” as a gathering requiring the presence of a “quorum” suggests that other-
gatherings which do not have a quorum are ordinarily not subject to the Open .
Meeting Law. Cf Burch-Clay, 2015 VT 110, § 19 (“It is clear in reading the earlier
arid amended legislative enactments together that the Legislature did not intend for
the term “meeting” to encompass the distribution by email of information for .
discussion at meetings. . ..”).

Here, the Plaintiffs have not identified any gathering where discussion of
public business occurred, or action was taken in the absence of a quorum. Even the
September 13, 2017 GISU minutes reflect that board business and votes occurred
after quorum was present; therefore, there is no discernible violation of § 310(3)(A)’s

quorum requirement.

At oral argument, the Plaintiffs -acknowledge. that, in fact, after the meeting
began, a quorum appeared, and that their basic objection to the September 13

6



meeting is that Mr. Julow did not “re-call the meeting,” but simply continued the -
meeting first called to order before the arrival of a sufficient number of members to
constitute quorum. The Plaintiffs do not point to any provision of the Open Meeting
Law which requires such a re-call to order, so it is unclear whether Plaintiffs base

- their objection on Roberts’ Rules of Oxder or some other unidentified internal

. procedure adopted by the board. See For the Record (FTR) Recorded Transcript at
1:39:17 et seq.

The Vermont Lea_.gﬁe of Citi;es and Tovs}ns (VLdT), which brovid’es éuidelines .
to bodies such as the GISU, addresses the rules of procedure which public bodies
should follow:

There is no legal obligation for municipal bodies to adopt Roberts’ Rules of
Order for their meetings. In fact, Roberts’ Rules are not well-suited for small
boards. VLCT has developed Model Rules of Procedure for meetings to help
selectboards, committees, and commissions and other ‘public bodies.’

Rules of Procedure for Municipal Boards, Commissions, and Committees, Vermont
League of Cities and Towns (June 1, 2017) (retrieved Nov. 28, 2018 and available at
www.vlct.org/resource). Of course, it is advisable for a public board to adopt-and
follow rules covering meeting proceedings. However, in this case, the Court finds
Plaintiffs’ objection to continuing the September 13, 2017 meeting without formally -
“re-calling” or “re-opening” at most constitutes a technical violation; it does not
implicate a violation of any provision of the current Open Meeting Law because
board business and votes covered by the Open Meeting Law occurred after quorum
was actually present. ' ’ '

C.

The Plaintiffs’ requests for relief are also legally insufficient. Plaintiffs have
suggested that the Defendants failed to later ratify actions allegedly taken at the
September 13, 2017 board meetings. It is true that actions a public body takes in
violation of the Open Meeting Law are ineffective unless later ratified at a meeting
which complies with the Law. See Valley Realty & Development, Inc. v. Town of
Hartford, 165 Vt. 463, 468, 685 A.2d 292 (1996). As noted supzra, the Plaintiffs’
have failed to identify particular decisions from the September 13 meeting which
were made without quorum present and therefore require ratification.

In.addition, before suing, the Plaintiffs were required to first give the
Defendants a chance to respond to or cure the alleged defect by sending written
notice of the alleged violation pursuant to 1 V.S.A. § 314(b)(1) (emphasis added).
The record contains no indication that Plaintiffs ever provided the Defendants
required written notice of their objection to the commencement/continuation of the
September 13, 2017 meeting absent a formal second “calling” of the meeting. In any



event, in light of the Comt s finding that no Open Meeting Law violation occurred,.
proof of written notice of the alleged violation would not change the outcome of this
matter. See 1 V.S.A. § 314(d).

Moreover, while Open Meeting Law permits an aggrieved party to seek

. injunctive or declaratory relief, on its face, it does not create a private right of action
for damages. Rowe v. Brown, 157 Vt. 373, 599 A.2d 333 (1991); 1 V. S.A. § 314(b).
While declaratory relief is authorized under the Open Meeting Law, that reliefis
only available where plaintiffs show “the threat of actual injury to a protected legal
interest.” Id. Accordingly, the Plaintiffs are not entltled to an award of monetary
damages or declaratory relief.

Finally, to the extent the Plaintiffs, through this suit, actually seek either to
voice disagreement with the Defendant boards’ decisions or stifle their
implementation, their appropriate remedy is a suit under Rule 75. See, e.g., Kevan

v. Town of Randolph Selectboard, 2006 WL 4959619 (Vt. Super. July 2008).

The Defendants’ Motion for Summar y J udgment is granted d udgment shall
‘be entered for the Defendants.

7,/
Dated this_&_ day of December, 2018.

—Z=sl

‘Robert A. Mello Supe1101 Judge




€1 jo | abed

Wd¥y2:ov:cl 610c/8L/1L

[8'v6T 6£°96 000 6£96 0T'T6g Juswhofdwaun sioyoea], FI9 00-000-09Z$-10Z1-101 'ST
19°¢SL 000 000 000 19°¢SL dwio) SIIOM SIYIESL, GTH 00-000-05TS-10T1-101 '#T
L¥'65S 16'LL 000 16LL 8€°LE9 "su] 3J1] SI9YPES, IAH 00-000-0£TS-10T1-101 €T
LEPIL'S 19°0L6C 000 19°0L6°C 86'VEL'S VOId stoyoea] 3949 00-000-02CS-10T1-101 'TC
66'8T1°SL 18°€50°6€ 000 18°€50°6€ 08°T8IvI1 Sallejeg s1ayoea ) 394 00-000-011S-10C1-101 "1¢
uonwanpy ApIes [eNuIssy 1071
60°018°6£6S LY'L88'80S' TS  P8'LIS'ILLS €9°6SETELS 9S8°L69'SHY TS uoneonpy [813dg 00Z1 TV.LOL
00°0SEY 000 000 000 00°0SEY woewdmbg 00-000-0£L5-00T1-101 0T
LL P9 €T8SIY 61°0v¢ ¥0'819°¢ 00°008°S sjeuejejy pue saiddng 90-000-0195-0021-101 61
(r¥'v6) Yrvp9°l 000 Y9l 0070551 [oae1L pg [r1o0dg 00-000-0855-00T1-101 81
68°TSELEY 11°L66°T66 10°€87°C0L 0T'¥1L°06T 00°0S€°0E¥°1 uoninyg, 00-000-1966-00T1-101 "L1
£6'TETEL LO'€09°691 ¥91ZCTL €V 18€°L6 009€8°Z81 [oABL], PY [e199dS UIPTIS 00-000-€1$$-00Z1-101 91
STT0L'SS SL'806°0€ 00661 SL'60L°0E 00019911 SADIAIAG 'JOI paseydInd 00-000-0€€S-00T1-101 "SI
(0€'661°LT) 0€°661°LT 000 0€°661°LT 000 SOOIAIDS PRIDBIU0]) 00-000-0TES-00T1-101 ¥
10°668°C 660561 004821 66'999 00°0S8°t Juswdojoaa(] [euolssajold pH [e1ads 00-000-062S-00Z1-101 "€l
09°€I81 08'%19 000 08'v19 0F'STH'T uotsip pg fe1ads 00-000-1825-002I-101 TI
1TLeLY 6STHIT 000 65°TH9T 08°69¢'L [eluaq pa [etoads 00-000-0826-00T1-101 11
£8800°5T LYI'EL6 000 LI'EL6 00786°ST ute1], "dojaas(y jeuoissajoid py [e192ds 00-000-0LZS-00T1-10T 01
L9996 £ELEE 000 £eLEE 000€°1 swhojdwoun py [ewads 00-000-097$-00T1-101 6
T8'STH'E 000 000 000 T8°STH'E dwo) s1axtom pd [e192ds 00-000-0$TS-00Z1-101 '8
(00°s0t'7) 00°059°L 000 00°059°L 00°SYT’E JuauRIny pg ferads 00-000-0¥2S-00T1-101 'L
YTILS 0§'L9¢€ 000 0§°L9¢ PL'EV6 soueinsu 9] pg [e193dS 00-000-0€CS-0021-101 9
TH'S88°€T 86'CL8's1 000 867CT8'S1 0t'80L°6€ VLI P [e193dS 00-000-02TS-00T1-101 'S
91'L16°09 ¥T'€96°s€ 000 YT €96°SE 01'088°96 soueinsuj ijedH py [e193dS 00-000-012S-00C1-101 ¥
(oo0Le) 00°0LE 000 00°0LE 000 Satlejes saply 00-000-S116-00C1-101 '€
00°000°C 000 0070 000 00°000°C Supoin L, uonesnpy Jerads 00-000-+11$-0021-101 'C
£0°08€°€0¢ L6'€89°S1T 000 L6'€89°C1T 00+90°61S Salle[eg skoyoea] 00-000-011S-00TI-101 'I
uoyeINpy [v132ds 90T1
punyj [e1oUd9) o}
6107/0¢/9 6102/0¢/9 6102/0£/9
- 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L uondLosad / J2qUINN JUn0aoy
Sutugeway palsqunousyg
Junoury 29 adg junowry  saouURIqUINOUY pouad pspodey  198png pardopy

vg [qoundz :apod juswsjels

gveleT # Yoday

s9po) 109lqO pue uoioung spungd ||y - sesuadxy

Jouysig uolun Alosiaiadng 9)s| puelds)




€1 Jo ¢ ebed

Wdce:9v-Zl 610c/8L/1

S8'8PS ST 65'950°6¢€ 000 657950°6¢€ PrS09%S1 SaugieS dIS 00-000-0116-081¢-101 9%
1S 0512
(00°sLs‘6D)S 00°SLS‘61S 00°0$ 00°SLS‘61S 00°08 sjeag] peuoneInpIoydAsd 0PIz TV.LOL
(0o'sess1) 00'54561 000 00'5L5°61 000 suonenfeas YoAsd 00-000-0€ES-0VIT-101 "S¥
S[BAT] [BUOHEINPIOYIASJ OPIT
8€IE18HS 98°LST6TS 00708 98°LST'6TS P G8ELLS Suisany paieys - {8207 $EIT TV.LOL
05T 11°¢€1 000 1TEEl 19°6L¢ UOISIA 9SINN 00-000-18TS-FEIT-101 tt
16'128 68°0CS 000 68°0TS 08'TPE'l [ejua( 9SINN 00-000-08TS-YEIT-101 "€F
1728 618t 000 61'8% A dwo) juawkoldwaup - 381N 00-000-09T$-v€12-101 T
Leee 00°0 000 000 L1TTE dwoyy S1MI0M - 3SIN 00-000-0SZS-YEIT-101 "It
(oo'sLz1) 00°SLT T 000 00'SLT°1 000 JUBWIAINGY - 3SINN 00-000-0¥CS-YE1Z-101 O
0l'vy ol 000 ol'ty 0T'88 'SUJ 9J17 9SINN 00-000-0€TS-PEIT-101 6€
10'95C°C TE8LYL 000 TE8LYl EEVEL'E B3] - 9SINN 1SID 00~000-0TTS-+EI1T-101 '8€
TEPLY LI 79°901°S 000 79'901°S ¥6°085°CT UIEdH 9N 00-000-0125-+E12-101 "LE
91'€91°8C £9°159°0¢ 000 £9°159°0C 6LY188Y ASINN IOLISIT NSID 00-000-0115-+€12-101 "9€
Suisany paagys - (807 $EIT
ST'8£6°66$ LS'LOY'SHS 0008 LS'LOY'SYS TL'SPO'SHIS uonednpy Alred [euudssy 1071 TV.LOL
0070001 00°0 000 000 00°000°1 wewdinbg - 439 00-000-0€£$-10T1-101 "S€
LE798L°1 el 000 erEly 00700T°C sorjddng 99 00-000-0195-10T1~101 '#€
LY TIFT £5°L8¢ 000 £6°L86 00°000°¢ PARLL 999 00-000-08$S-10T1-101 €€
00°008°t 000 000 000 007008 uoning 4449 00-000-1955-10TI-101 'C¢E
6669 10°0¢¥ 000 10°0¢r 00°00S uonepodsuel ], Juspnig "pH2adg (0-000-€165-10T1-101 1€
00'¥80°1 000 000 000 00%80°T SAIAIIS PaseydIngd 99 00-000-00€$-10T1-101 0F
007056 000 000 000 00056 juawudoraaa(] [euoissajold 49 00-000-062S-10T1-101 67
01'92¢ 88°6€ 000 88°6¢ 86'$9C UOISIA SJOU2BRL, F9 00-000-182$-1021-101 8¢
LLOY6 00861 000 00861 LL'SET'T [eIUa(] SIYORRL FIF 00-000-08TS-10T1-101 LT
00L91'Y 00°0vT'1 000 00°0vT°T 00°L0%'S uawdojeas( Joid / Sututel], s1yoedy, 399 00-000-0£TS-10T1-101 9T
610T/0€/9 6107/0€/9 6102/0€/9
- 810T/1/L - 810/1/L - 810T/1/L uonduISa( / 2qUINN JUNCOOY
Suluiewoy] palsquinduyg
junowy 29 Juadg Junowry  $IOURIGUINIUY poudd pauoday 123png paydopy .

9veLe # Hoday

sapo0 }99[qO pue uoodun4 spund ||y - sesuadxgy
Jo1sIqg uolun Aiosialadng a)s| puels)




€1 jo ¢ abed

Wdce:gvcl 610c/8L/1L

00°00€° 000 000 000 00°00€°1 souddng ¢71$ T99 00-000-0195-1S12-101 2L
00°0SL°T 000 000 000 00°0SL°C 1oAeL], IS I3d 00-000-08SS-1S1Z-101 "IL
0008 000 000 000 0005 uswidofoas(] [euoissajold 1S F99 00-000-06TS-[S1T-101 0L
(89°9L) 89°9L 000 89°9L 000 UOISIA 1S A9F 00-000-1828-1S1Z-101 69
{(+0°00€) $0°00€ 000 $0°00€ 000 [ead d1$ 999 00-000-08TS-1S12-101 89
00'9LET 00°0 000 000 00'9LET uonmj/Sututelf/dojeas Joid 4718 A99 00-000-0LTS-1S1Z-101 L9
19°T1T 61°'8Y 000 61°8¥ 08'09¢ wewkojdwoury 4718 999 00-000-092S-1S12-101 99
0S'vEl 000 000 000 0S ¥EP dwop s1oIopM d71S G349 00-000-05TS~1S12-101 "9
PSPL 9%°9C 000 9+'9¢ 00°101 Sup Q1T d1S F99 00-000-0£TS-1S12-101 "9
1702L°E 1091€°1 000 10°91€°1 TTIE0°S VOId 7S 939 00-000-02¢S-1S12-101 €9
(9L7929°¢) 9L'9L9°€ 000 9L'9L9°E 000 souensu] yiesH d1S 99 00-000-012S-1S12-101 79
85L16°9% TrSIE61 00°0 W61 00°€£8°59 saue[es d71S 94 00-000-0116-1S1Z-101 19
H21d 1S 1€12
86°095°LETS SL'LEO'TLS 00°08 SLLEOTLS €L°865°60TS d1S 0S1TTVLOL
00°005°S 000 000 000 00°008°S wowdinbz IS 00-000-0€L$-0512-101 09
00L19°T 00'€8¢ 000 00'€8€ 00°000°¢ sariddng 41S 00-000-0195-0§12-101 "6S
00°008°¢ 000 000 000 00°005°¢ [9ABLL dIS 00-000-085S-0S1Z-101 8S
SLP8S'E §T$9T9 000 YA TA 00058°6 SIDIAIIS [BUOISSAJOI] PaseyaIng d'IS 00-000-0TES-0512-101 LS
00°08€°1 0070 000 000 00°0SE°T juswdojoaa(] [euoIssajold d1S 00-000-062S-051Z-101 '9S
00'969 #0089 000 #0°089 FO'9LET (g2 d71S 00-000-08¢S-0S12-101 'SS
00'52S°9 000 000 000 005259 uonin [ Buturel [ Auswdopadd JoId dIS 00-000-0LTS-0S1T-101 #S
$9°08C S6 01T 000 S60VT 09°'12$ swAordwaun) IS 00-000-0925-0S12-101 €
0+ 0201 00°0 00°0 000 04°020°1 dwo) s1YI0M d7IS 00-000-0STS-0512-101 "T§
(€9°679) £9'629 000 £9°679 000 oWy dIS 00-000-0+TS-0S1T-101 1S
£6'66 ST 000 SLTIT 89'112 souInsul 911 IS 00-000-0€T$-0§1C-101 0§
9L'918°L 957010 000 95°010 TELISTT VYOI d'1S 00-000-02T$-0S1T-101 "6
€616 TE96€°S 000 TE96€°S STIIE0! soueInsuj Yi[esH d'1S 00-000-01¢S-0S1Z-101 8%
(99'¢97°sD) 99°€9T°51 000 99°€9T°S1 000 LY d1S 00-000-S115-0S12-101 "L¥
6107/0£/9 610T/0€/9 6102/0€/9
- 8107/1/L - 810Z/1/L - 810T/1/L uondiosagy / 1GUIAN JUN0odY
Sulureway patequinouy
junowry 29 Juadg Junowry  SeoUBIGUINOUT poua pauoday 198png paydopy

sapo9 JoalqO pue uoioun4 spund ||y - sesuadxg
1oLsIg uolun Alosialadng ajs| puels)

gvelLe # Hoday




€1 o  abed

Ndceoviel 610C/8L/1

JUdUISSISSY (1S1D 1TET

(S0°9€T1°9)S SO9E1°98 00°0S €0'9€1°98 00708 sasuadxy [B1UID PAIBYS - [8207] OIET TV.LOL
(so'9¢r) S09¢k 000 S09EY 000 VI spuadng preog asnNNId 00-000-02T$-01€2-101 €6
(00°000) 00°00T 000 00°00C 000 A12121005 - 0Ag PH JO preod ASNNID 00-000-T11S-01€Z-101 T6
(00005°¢) 00'005°S 000 00°008°S 000 spuadng pieog ASNNID 00-000-011$-01€T-101 16
5asuRdX [B1AUIS) PAIBYS - (80 OI€T
9T’ TFO'SES 85818078 00°0S 85°8180TS $8°098'SSS uwpy uo) - yuamdopasg wamdLIN) TITT TVLOL
(00811 00'898 000 00898 00°0SL suondiI0sqng/sa9,4/san(g - pIoo) Lng 00-000-018S-C1TT-101 06
00°00§ 000 000 000 00°00S aremyogausudinbg - wnnotny 00-000-0£L5-212C-101 68
00°00€ 000 000 000 00°00¢ $3j00g - I0jeulploo] Un (0-000-0¥9¢-CITC-101 88
00°0s¢ 000 000 000 00°0¢¢ satjddng - “joaa( o1IND 00-000-0195-T12T-101 "L8
88'8L1°T [ARrs 000 [4mt4 00°000°€ [2ABL], PI00D) NG 00-000-08SS-CTITT-101 98
17'9€5°1 65°£96 000 65°€96 00°005°C Ut pue suoyd wandLIND 00-000-0£5$-T1TT-101 '$8
00°000°9 000 000 000 00°000°9 Y 1O wRnouIng 00-000-00¥$-TI1TT-101 '+8
00'00T°C 000 000 000 007002°C Sururer], Jeis-asQq 1Und 00-000-07€S-TI1TT-101 €8
(00°001) 00°00¥ 000 0000 00°00¢ sasuadxa 921AI95 Uj - "9A3( "OLUND (0-000-06ZS-T17C-101 T8
SEL 80°SY 00°0 80°S¥ £F'CS UOISIA £03eUIpIO0] UnY (0-000-18CS-C1CT-101 18
€ELTl 611701 000 61401 [4 £ X4 [ejua( 10jeulploo) LIny (0-000-08CS-T1TT-101 08
00'9L8°C 000 000 000 00'9L8°C Sutulel [ /A2 JOIJMOMIN, - AX( 1IND 00-000-0LT$-T1TT-101 "6L
0¥ oti 000 00°0 000 0v'0¢l Juswikojdwaun pI00D 10D 00-000-097S-TITT-101 ‘8L
9°'L81 000 000 000 79°L8I dwo)) s19310 PI00D dLUND 00-000-05TS-TITT-101 "LL
0788 000 000 000 0788 “SUp 91T J0JBUIPIOOD) WnfnoLlNg 00-000-0€TS-TITT-101 9L
9L°610°1 86'¥S1°1 00°0 86PSI ] PLYLIT PAIN/VOIIA 00-000-0TTS-TITT-101 'SL
1L°L£9°€ TTHSI] 000 TTPSTL €6'16LY iJeaH] Iojeuiploo] Uny 00-000-01TS-CTITT-101 vL
09°0TI°¢l 01" LOEST 000 0v'LOEST 00'8T¥'8C 10JBUIpIO0]) WN[NdLING 00-000-011S-TITT-101 €L
unupy o)) - JudwdoPAdq WRILLIND TITT
96'188°€SS 9S"6SL VTS 00°0S 9S°6SL'PTS IS TP9'8LS HUJ IS ISITTIVLIOL
610T/0£/9 610T/0¢/9 6102/0€/9
- 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L uond1osa( / 32quInN JUN0SOY
Susureuay paraquunouz
unowy 2% Juadg Junowy  saouRIqUINOUY pouad pauoday  198png pardopy

opeLT # boday

s9pon 199lqO pue uoioun4 spund ||y - sesuadxg

Jo113s1g uolun Alosialadng as] puelds




€1 jo g abed

Ndee'9v:2l 6102/8L/L

007000°1 000 000 000 00°000°T $300¢] [eU0ISSY0Id-JUSWISSISSY NSID 00-000-0v9S-1TEL-101 €T1
¥$'168 91'809 000 9t'809 00°00¢°1 ['O jony-Juswssassy nsin 00-000-¥79S-12€T-101 TC1
LY 019°C £5°6€6 000 £5°6£6 00°055°¢ ANoLN03[2-UdWSSISSY NSID 00-000-229S-1TEC-101 "1T1
757092 8'6£C°9 €TLSE ST'T8Y'S 00°005°9 asuadxg 9O JOUISIP-JUIWSSISSY BSID 00-000-019S-1TET-101 0TI
£8'1S8°C LUSYOY 000 LUSYO'y 00°005°L [9ABI]-UDWSSISSY USID 00-000-085S-12€C-101 611
8€°660°C 97001 000 79001 00°00T°L auoydaper-ustussassy nsin 00-000-0€5S-1ZEC-101 811
¥L'S69 00°SSt'8P 000 00'SST'8t YLOSI'6Y 0q/Mm/sUf 211/AYIGEI-IUSWISSISSY NSID 00-000-0TSS-1TEC-101 "L11
00°0St°S 00°0$6°S 000 00°056°S 00°00%°11 JWRI-JUSWISSISSY NSID 00-000-1+#$-12€Z-101 911
SIS SO IER ] 000 S9'1EH 1 00°056°C SOAG 101d0D)-JUBWISSASSY NSID 00-000-EEFS-12ET-101 'S11
88 ILLY TIsTLll 000 TI8TLL 00°005°91 (10y30) "sAS PayORNUOD 00-000-0EYS-1TET-10T "+11
00°000°T 000 000 000 00°000°1 jddns/s201A410G [BIPOISNI-JUSWISSISSY NSID (00-000-ETPS-1CEC-101 €11
00558 00°s¥1 000 00°St1 0070001 sougujuiEw USS/UMR/SUIMOld MOUS 00-000-TTHS-1TEC-101 TH]
LY'691 £5°0€8 000 £5°0€8 007000°T o HYPUL]/[EAOWY YSBN-JUIWSSISSY NSLD 00-000-1THS-1TET- 101 "111
00°000°1 000 000 000 00°000°T soueUSUIRIA SUIPIng  00-000-00tS-1ZE€C-101 011
yT'LO8 9,618 000 9L'T61'Y8 00°000°S8 HPNB-JUSIISSISSY NS 00-000-0LES-1TET-101 601
(z8'L90°¢) 78°L90°9 000 T8°L90%9 00°000°¢ $99,] [ES2[-JURWSSISSY NSID 00-000-09€S$-1TET-101 801
(zLoor'on) TLO0IIE 00'002 TL'006°0€ 007000°61 S2DIAIAG JOIJ PISEYDIN-IUILISSISSY NSID 00-000-0£ES-1TET-101 "LO1
6S°TYLT 1+°LST 00'00T L8 00°000°¢ SBULuIR1 ] /JaNy UIWPY - JUSWSSISSY  00-000-06C$-12ET-T01 901
1L°6LE 14°80S 000 1L'80S 7888 UOISIA-JUDWISSISSY NSID 00-000-18TS-12ET-101 "SO1
€0°LL8T SP8LLT 000 SY8LLT 81°659°¢ [e3uap-JUALSSISSY NSID 00-000-08TS-1TET- 101 #O1
00°005°9 000 000 000 00'005°9 $9S1N0/UONIM-JUIWSSISSY NSID 00-000-0LZS-1TET-101 €01
0r'T8L 000 000 000 0t'Z8L dwioy juswAo]dwaun-Judiussassy nst 00-000-092S-12€C-101 201
8TSHET 00°0 000 000 8T SHET saakofdwa NSID - duto) S19410M  00-000-0STS-1TET-101 101
LEOYY'S 09'L60°L 000 09°L60°L L6'LELTT uswaIney 340jdwa-Juswssassy nst 00-000-0¥TS-12€T-101 001
seeel $T'SE9 000 §TSE9 09'89L QI - JUBWSSISSY (1SID 00-000-0£S-12EC-101 66
SOF88°11 98°667°S1 000 98°66C°¢1 16'€81°LT eO-JUSWISSISSY NSID 00-000-0TTS-1TEC-101 ‘86
90°67F'8¢ 617'TSL'ET 000 6V'TSL'ET sC181°C8 3eaY-IUsWISSassy NSiD 00-000-0175-1TET-101 'L6
(00'001) 00°001 000 00°001 000 A18)2109§ - 9AG P JO preod NSID 00-000-T116-1TET-101 96
(00°00s°1) 00°005°1 000 00°00S°1 000 Jamnseal], NSID 00-000-111$-12€T-101 '$6
$S°06T°EST 89'750°C0T 000 89'%50°20T TTSHEsse Ale[es-Juowissassy nsin 00-000-011S-12€T-101 v6
6107/0£/9 6107/0€/9 610T/0€/9

- 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L uondHasa(] / JIQUINN JUN00SY

Suureway] paaqunouy

junouwry

29 uadg Junowy  sasuzIquIndu pound psuoday  198png padopy

SvELZ # Hoday

s9po9 J03lqO pue uopoun4 spund ||y - sosuadxgy

1o113s1g uolun Alosialedng a|s| puels)




€1 j0 g abed

Wdee:9v:ZL 6L0c/8L/L

1T6IT°ITIS €8°C0S6HIS 66'PSETS PS8FI'SHIS $0°€29°0LTS JudWsSISSY AZ0pouydd L, 0S€T TVLOL
(8€°¢18°7) 8EEPSLI 00°0Z€°1 8£'€TS91 00°000°S 1 sued/rempiet/satjddng A50jouyaa L 00-000~+ELS-0SET-101 "8¥1
(€0'Ls1°6) €OLSIPL 000 £0°LSI P! 00°000°S aremyos AB0[oUYd3L, 00-000-0L95-0SEC-101 Ll
8¥ Shi 4973 66'7E £5°61 0000 sonddng ASojouysa1, 00-000-0195-0S€Z-101 91
0000 000 000 000 00°00S [oae1], A30joUl0a], 00-000-0855-0SE€C-101 "Sti
00°0SZ°¢ 00°055°¥ 000 007055y 00°008°L ase377 o1dQ 19911 00-000-0¥FS-0S€Z-101 "b¥1
00°005°t 000 000 000 00°008°1 uoddng a11sqam £50[0uysa], 00-000-0€FS-0SET-101 "Evl
0L SHH'E 0£'75S0°E 000 0EP50°€ 00°005°9 §5000Y JoUIAIU] AZ0[0UYAL, (00-000-[¥ES-0SET-101 Thl
00°€99°¢ 00°LES'L 000 007LE]'L 00°00S°€1 MYOS/OAS 10SqNG/IUOY) 0AS - ASO[OUIDL 00-000-0FES-0SET-101 "I+
00000 00°0 000 000 00°000°T Suner], ASojouyoa], 00-000-0£€S-0SET-101 0bl
20795969 86'€HE6 000 86'CHE6 00°000°SL sieynsuo) A30[0uyad], 00-000-0TES-0SET-101 "6E1
(09'sLD) 09°SLT 000 09°5LT 000 uoIsIA ASojowyoa], 00-000-18TS-0S€T-101 '8€1
(00'98L) 00'98L 000 00'98L 000 [gluaq A30[0Wp31, 00-000-087$-0$ET-101 "LE1
0%09C 000 000 000 0109 uowkojduraupy Aojouysd], 00-000-097$-0SET-101 '9€1
¥8'ELS 000 000 000 ¥8'€L8 dwo) s1oy10M A3010W3], 00-000-05TS-0SET-101 "SEI
06'S6 01°00C°¢ 000 01°00T°¢ 00'96C°¢ oIy 2ako[dw - 9AS Y93 L 00-000-0+TS-0S€T-101 +El
S A SLT91 000 SLT91 07681 soueinsuj 917 ABojouys], 00-000-0£ZS-0SET-101 €€L
£296¢ LELO6'S 000 LELOG'S 09'€0€°9 VOId £30jouyaa], 00-000-07¢S-0S€T-101 TEL
(TL80Ey) TL'80EY 000 L8305 000 soueInsU[ tjjjeap] ~-AS0[OUYd3 L, 00-000-01TS-0SET-101 1€l
T6'9LEHS 80°€C08L 000 80°€20°8L 00°00+°CE1 saLiejeg AS0[ouysa], 00-000-011$-0S€T-101 0€1
JUILUSSISSY hwo_o::uo'—\ 0S€C
L8TOL'9STS 0L98T'S9¥S 0L'PS91S 00°TE9°E9¥S LS 686'1TLS JUdWSSISSY (181D 17€T TV.LOL
(P¥'L6S) b LGS 000 P LES 000 $92/sa1[BUdd 00-000-668S-1TET-101 '6T1
$0'955°¢ 96'EYLY 8¥vLE 87'69¢ 00700€°8 5anp/SUIOIA J0Id-JUSWSSISSY NSID 00-000-018S-12€Z-101 '$T1
10°LLY'T 66'TTS 667CS 000 00°000°¢ juswidinby se3ndwo) 00-000-€LS-1TET-101 'LTI
00°05T 000 000 000 00052 daanum,] 9030 PWSIA 00-000-€€LS-1TET-101 '9T1
00°00S 000 000 000 00°00$ waswdinby 00-000-0€L$-12€T-101 "ST1
00°00€ 000 000 000 00°00€ 20BMYOS 00-000-0L9S-1ZET-101 +Tl
610T/0€/9 6107/0€/9 6102/0€/9
- 810UT/L - 810T/1/L - 8107/1/L uonduasa / 2quINN Jun02dY
Suiureway palaquinouyg
junowy 29 Juadg JUNOWY  SIoURIqUINOUT pouad pauoday  198png pardopy

9pE L # Hoday

sapo 198lqO pue uopoun4 spund ||y - sesuadxg
Jousiq uolun Alosialadng ajs| puels




€} 40 £ abed

Ndceovct 6102/8L/4

sosuadx7 je1UdD) pILeys - [8I07] 1€T

(05°LL9)S 0S°LL9S 00°0$ 0S°LLIS 00708 SuisanyN paieys - [£307] PEIT TV.LOL
(5.°88€) SL'88¢ 000 SL'88¢ 000 satjddns-pareys - [e20T 00-000-019S-v€12-201 "€91
(5,802 $L'80T 000 $L'80T 000 jaAeI)-paseYyS - [£90T 00-000-085$-FE€1T-201 "791
(00°08) 00'08 000 0008 000 SOOUIIRJUOI-PRIRYS - 20T 00-000-06ZS-HE€12-201 191
wEf:Z paJaeyds - (82077 $€IC
paaeys [8307] 701
LTOISISGIS  I6°0LTOTS'TS  €S'LES'GLLS 8E°ECLOPLLS 81'L80°TOS'PS puny [esauwdn 191 TV.LOL
S0°'€55°867S SG'LSIIFIS 00°08 SGLBIIPIS 00°IPLGEYS uoneyiodsuel), - JUdPMS 0L TV.LOL
S0'€S5°86T S6'LSITHI 000 S6'L8ITHI 00' 1L 6EY $IIAIRS uoneHodsu}, 00-000-0Z€S-00LT-101 091
uoneltodsue.d ], - JUdPMIS 0OLT
(€6'760°11)S £6'F60°T1S 0008 €6'P6O'TIS 00°08 uoneUIP100D) P [v199dS 0THT TV.LOL
(LS 601) LS 60¥ 000 LS'60Y 000 WA "wwpy pI [e1oads 00-000-0¥TS-0THC-101 651
(€6'95L) €6'95L 000 £6'95L 000 VOl "utupy "pg [e10adS 00-000-02¢S-0Z#C-101 '8S1
(£4'876°6) £7'876°6 000 £4'826°6 000 ulwpy pe [e10edS 00-000-011$-0THT-101 “LS1
uoyEwIp.I00)) P [813dS 0THT
0€°788°LTS 99°L19°9T$ 00°08 99°L19°9TS 96°66Y° PSS 191do)y pateys - [B207T OT1HT TVLOL
00°$€0°1 00°$91 00°0 00°S91 00°00T°1 Juswdo[aAa(] [UOISSAJOId 00-000-067S-01+2-101 951
0t'0€1 000 000 000 0y 0l “dwo) juswikodwaun 00-000-09ZS-01+2-101 "S§1
£6'7ST 000 00°0 000 €6'7ST dwo) s1Y10M  00-000-057$-01+Z-101 '+S1
L6'61E $9°5¥9 000 S9°SH9 79'596 JUAWANNY 00-000-0¥TS-01FT-101 €51
07'88 000 000 000 07’88 sup oJ17 dno1n 00-000-0£75-01+#2-101 'TS1
90'8TL°1 SL'9TT'1 000 SL9TT] 18¥56°C VOId 00-000-0ZTS-01¥T-101 161
$0°L8EE 96'€68°9 000 96'€68°9 00°182°01 SU[ YeaJH 00-000-012S-01+T-101 0S1
0L'8€6°0T 0£989°L1 000 0€'989°L1 00'579°8¢ "PI00D) SIIAISS JOIARYDE 00-000-0115-01¥T-101 "6¥1
11do) pateyg - {83077 O1HT
610T/0€/9 6102/0€/9 610T/0€/9
- 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L uonduosaq] / JGUIBN JUN0dY
Surureway palaqunouy
junoury 2 Juedg Junowly  SeOURIGIINOUL polad papoday 1a8png paydopy

9vELT # Hoday

s9po09 309lqO pue uoldun4 spund ||y - sasuadxg
Jouysig uoiun Auosialadng 9)s| puelds)




€1 jo g abed

Ndce:9vel 610¢/8L/1

(£9°S9L'LT)S €9'S9L'LIS 00°0$ €9°S9L LIS 00°0S [euopdnOSUl 0T TV.LOL
(80°s) 80°SH 000 80°SH 000 9URINSU] UOISIA ~ VI 3L, 00-000-187S-0011-TOE LLI
(L1¥o1) L1$01 000 L1401 00°0 soueInsyy jeIua(] - VII APLL 00-000-08Z$-0011-T0€ '9L1
Levs1n) L6'HSTT 000 LEPSIT 000 VOId - VII 3BLL 00-000-0TTS-0011-Z0€ "SLI
(TovsS1'D) TOPSTI 000 20HSIEl 00°0 soueInsul YIedH - VI 9BLL 00-000-017S-0011-20€ vLI
(6£°LOE'ST) 6£°LOE'ST 000 6€°L0E°ST 000 Aeleg plooD) - VII 2ALL 00-000-0115-0011-20€ "€L1
E:o_au:bm:— 0011
VII UL T0E
(85°SLS'TD)S 8$°SL'ITS 0008 8S°SLSITS 0008 I 9BIL 10€ TV.LOL
(8E°LLLTDIS 8E€°LLLITS 00'08 8CLLLTTS 00°08 19B1L 1011 TVLOL
(88°6¢) 88°6€ 000 88°6¢ 000 soueansuj uoisip dnoID- UL 00-000-187S-1011-10€ TLI
(00'861) 00861 000 00'861 000 souensuy peIuRg-] AL 00-000-08TS-1011-10€ 141
(9t'92) 99 000 9%'9T 000 souemsuy 317 - [ AL 00-000-0£S-1011-10€ 0LI
(00°0zeD) 00702¢°1 000 007021 00°0 VOIA 13BLL 00-000-02ZS-1011-10€ 691
F8S1H D) P8 SIFl 000 P8SIF ] 000 souRInsul YI[esH 1 2L 00-000-01TS-1011-10€ "891
OTLLL8T) 0T LLL'ST 000 0TLLL'8L 00°0 SOLB[ES 1 9L 00-000-011S-T01[-10€ "L9I
19DLL 1011
(07'86)8 07'86S 00°0$ 07'86S 00°0S [euononysuy 0011 TV.LOL
(0Z7'86) 07’86 000 0786 000 satddug 1 9pLL 00-000-0195-0011-10€ "991
[euononysuy 0011
19 10€
(spe6I'sSL)S SYE6I‘SLS 00'08 SPE61SLS 00°0$ pateys 18307 201 TV.LOL
(S6'S1S°PL)S SG'SIS'PLS 00°0S SG'SISPLS 00708 SISUAAXY [e1DUID PALEYS - [8I0] O1€T IVLOL
(s6'0£5°7) S6'0ES°T 000 S6'0£5°C 000 Sursnuoape-paleys - (29077 00-000-0¥$S-01€2-201 91
(00°586°1L) 00°$86°1L 000 00°586°1L 000 soueInsu] - pareys- 8007 00-000-0Z5S-01€2-201 +91
610T/0€/9 610T/0€/9 6102/0€/9
-~ 8107/1/L - 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L uondisaQ / JAGUINN JUN033Y
Suluieway patoquunouyg
unowy 29 JuadgS JUNOWY  S3dUBIGUINOUY poLdd pauoday 195png paydopy

s9po9 J03lgqO puk uondun4 spund ||y - sasuadxgy
Jo13s1qg uolun Alosiatadng 9)s| pueuo

ovele # Hoday




€1 40 6 abed

WNdeceav:cl 610c/8L/1L

{0s'L0€'0) 05'L0E'6 000 08°L0€6 000 SOLIR[RS SIYOBDL, SAH 00-000-0115-TTP1-0TE 681
SIIAIIS HBIA PIPUNXT TTF]
(L8'£88°C)S L8'E88ES 00°0S L8'€88°€S 00705 uoneanpy {¥Ids 0021 TV.LOL
(00'961°1) 00961°1 000 009611 000 yswdmbs 1omdwo) g vAAL 00-000-v£L5-00T1-0TE 881
0109 0109 000 0109 000 syuapm§ 447 10§ sppuaiely pue saiddng go-101-0195-0021-0T€ L81
Or'609°1) 0v"609°1 000 0t'609°1 000 [ABLL 00-000-08$S-00T1-0T€ 981
(e LETL 00°0 LETL 000 VOL1 avaal 00-000-077S-00T1-0Z€ 81
(00°9v6) 00'9%6 000 00'9%6 000 uoster] VAT SH 'PH 29dS 00-000-011$-00T1-0TE '+81
uonednpy {€ndg 0071
4 VIAI 0T€
(16'889'€7)8 16'889°€CS 0008 16'889°€7S 0008 wpy pajeposuo)) - SIPLL 11V - ddD LOE TV.LOL
(16'889°C7)S 16°889°€TS 00°08 16°889'€7S 00°0$ JUIWSSISSY (1SID 1767 TVLOL
(91'09) 91'09 000 91'09 000 UOISIA - WPY U0 41D 00-000-18TS-1TET-LOE €81
(00°6€1) 00°6€1 000 00°6£1 000 jeie( - wpy uod 440 00-000-082S-12€T-L0E "C81
(Frovs1) o OPSl 000 A2 000 VYOI Wpy uod 41D 00-000-02T$-17€¢-L0E "181
(8¥'6£5°1) 81 6£5°1 000 8'6£5°1 000 [EaH - WPy uod d:AD 00-000-01Z5-1Z€L-LOE 081
(£8°60t°00) £8°601°0T 000 £8°60%°0T 000 10JeUipI00)) 10D WPY U0D - 44D 00-000-011$-12€7-L0E "6L1
JUAWSSISSY 1SID 1T€T
WPy PAEpIosuo) - SIPLL IV - A LOE
00'0L1°9)8 00°0LT°9% 00°08 00°0L1°98 00°08 weag0.1g IPIM00YdS J1D 90€ TVIOL
(00°0LI‘D)S 00°0L1°98 00°08 00°0L1°98 00°08 19BLL 1011 TV.LOL
(00°0L1°9) 000419 000 00°0L1'9 000 3Is] puelD 21emMyos dMS 15-000-0L9S-1011-90€ '8LT
[2BLL 1011
Ew&wo..n— u—v_a_oo:um QN—U 90¢€
(£9°59LLT)S €9°S9L'L1S 00'08 £9'S9LLIS 00°0% VII L T0€ TV.LOL
6107/0€/9 610T/0€/9 610T/0£/9
- 810T/1/L - 810Z/1/L - 810T/1/L uondiidsagy / JIQUINN UN0d2Y
w:_EmEuN_ paiaqunoiy
junoury 2y juadg junowy  saoueIqUINOUY poud pauoday] 198png paydopy

gvele # Hoday

sapo9 }09lqO pue uoioun4 spund ||y - sesuadxgy

1o113sIg uolun Alosiaiedng ajs| puels)




€l o0l abed

WNdeeovcl 6102/8L/1

(Leon 1L°€91 0070 1L°€91 000 AL, Ld €€ #1885 00-000-0855-061T-02¢€ "L0T
(00'T9o1°vD) 00°T91°v1 000 00T91°v1 000 AJdG paseyaIngd 1/d - § VAl 00-000-02£5-061T-0T¢ '90¢
(FL79L0%1) PLOLOY 000 PL9LOL 000 VOId L/d g-vdadl 00-000-0T¢S-0612-0T€ SOT
@TrLo'vD TTYLOPL 000 TTYLO VI 000 saueieS 1/d 00-000-0115-0612-0T€ ¥0T
Adexoy], [easskud 0617
(9g"L8E OV 9¢"LBE'OYS 00°08 9£°LBEOFS 00°08 Adesoy, [euoyednadQ 0917 TVLOL
(08°LTD) 08°LTI 000 08'LTI 000 UOISIA 3PtV L/O 00-000-187S-091T-0T¢ "€0T
(r0°009) $0°00¢ 000 ¥0°00¢ 000 B33 3piY L/O 00-000-08TS-091T-0T¢ "T0T
(oz'zse) 0T°Ts6 000 0T'TS6 000 a1nay 9afoldwd 1/0 00-000-0¥2S-0912-0T€ 10T
(L6'58Y) L6'S8Y 000 L6'S8Y 000 VOl seutiiqetT 00-001-02¢S-0912-0Z¢ 00T
($€069°T) SE069°1 000 SE069°1 000 VOId L/O % 3PV 1/O 00-000-0TTS-0912-0T¢€ "661
(96'€68°9) 96'€68°9 000 96'€68°9 000 e3H 2PV 1/0 00-000-01T$-0912-0T¢ 861
(057T5€%9) 0§°28€9 000 0§°25€9 000 saleles 00-001-0115-0912-0T¢ "L61
(S ¥8€°€T) PSY8EET 000 PSI8EET 000 Ale[eS 9piy 1/0 00-000-0115-0912-0Z€ 961
Adeiay ], jeuonednddQ 0917
(€€°L80'S)$ £€°L80'SS 00°0S €£°L80°SS 00708 dIS 0SITTVLOL
(8s°L59) 8S°LSE 000 86°LSE 000 VOId d71S 00-000-0TTS-0S12-0T¢ S61
(SLse8’c) SL'SES'E 000 SL'SES'E 000 QUIfYSY Y-IUBISISSY IS €€ #I8IS 00-000-S11$-0S12-07€ 161
(00768) 00168 000 00168 000 Satieleg d71S 00-000-0115-0612-0T¢ €61
d1S 0S1T
(00°s€T'11)S 00°SET'TIS 00°0$ 00°SET'TIS 00°08 S[BAT [BUOBEINPIOYIAS] OFIT TVIOL
(00 se’11) 00°SEC'T1 000 00°S€C11 000 S[eAT AY2ASd 00-000-00£S-0+1T-0CE T6!
S[EAT] [BUOL BINPIOYIAS] Op1T
(LP'1S0°80)8 LY'1S0'8TS 00708 LV'1S0°8ZS 00°08 SIIAIG IBIX PIPUNXY TTYI TV.LOL
(Ly'e66°1) LY'€66°T 0070 L¥'€66°1 000 IAIN/VOLL ¥VEA AIANILXE € #8408 00-000-0TTS-TTY1-0TE 161
(0s0sL91) 05°05L91 000 05'05L°91 000 Ate[es joid-ered YVAA AAANILXT 00-000-S11S-TTH1-0Z€ 061
610Z/0£/9 610T/0¢/9 6102/0¢/9
- 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L - 810T/1/L uondLIsaq / JQUINN U000y
Sututeway pasequinoug
Junowy 2 juadg Junoury  $9ouURIqUINOUY pouiad papoday  195png pardopy

gvele # Hoday

sapo9 199l pue uodun4 spun4 ||y - sesuadxg
JouysiIg uolun Aiosialadng 9)s| puelds)




€140 |} abeg

NdZe:9¥Cl 610C/8L/1

(0000808 00°008°TS 00°0ST'1S 00°0ST'1IS 00°08 sasuddju0)/sdoysyio -gvadl 0177 TV.LOL
(0070050 00°00$°C 00°0$2°1 00°05C°1 000 A3 Joid M-24d € 831 00-000-00£$-01TT-12€ "61T
saduddyue)y/sdoysion -gvadI 0122
(F6S8°L)S PP 6S8°LS 00°08 P 6S8LS 00°08 Hoad 4718 117 TVIOL
(9¢°67) 95°6T 000 96'¢T 000 UoISIA Jooyosald g VAQI 00-000-18S-1S12-17€ ‘81T
(00°001) 00°001 000 00001 000 [eyua( jooydsald g VAAl 00-000-087S-1S12-12€ LIT
(os'zit) 0s'CIy 000 0s°Tiy 000 VOId d71S 100495214-VAAI 6 # 18US 00-000-0TTS-1S1T-12€ 91T
09'sTz’D) 09°52T°1 000 09°S2T°1 000 yeaH jooyasald g vIAI 00-000-01TS-1S12-1T€ 'S1T
(8L°560°9) 8L'$60°9 000 8L'560°9 000 Arefes d1S Id g-VAdI 8% # 18IS 00-000-011S-1S12-12€ 1T
Hoad 4718 161¢
(1£°060°9)$ 1€°060°9$ 00°08 1£060°9S 00'0S 100128-2.14 SIVNAIIG 18I PIPUIXY £THT TVILOL
(18zey) 18°2¢y 000 1876y 000 VOId 31-31d ASH € ©3PI 00-000-07TS-€TH1-12€ €1T
(0005t 1) 007051 00°0 00°0S%°1 000 soue[eS 9ply ASH € VAL 00-000-$11S-€TH1-12€ TIT
(0s°L0T't) 08°L0TY 000 0S°LOTY 000 Aefeg s1910ed L, H-01d ASH € ¥OPI 00-000-01 1S-€THI-12E 11T
[00Y35-2.1 SIINALS 4w X PIPUNXY €TH]
1004281y g VAAI 1T
(STFRO‘CENS  STHBO°EEIS 00°08 ST'PR0'EETS 00°0S g vadl 0Z€ TVLI0L
(ss'1EL)S SSIELS 00708 SSIELS 00°0$ uoneuIpI00) P [v122dS OZHT TVLOL
(09°061) 09°06% 000 09°06¢ 000 11 pg02dg 105 dxd pue [PABLL 00-000-0855-02FZ-02E 01¢
(s6'0v7) S6°0%C 00'0 S6'0VT 000 ssuemsuf juswiopdwaupn jo uotod gvadl 00-000-097S-0THT-0TE 60T
uoneuIpI00)) pi [e12dS 0THT
(00'1€T°v 1S 00 IETHIS 00°08 00°IETPIS 00°08 WPy pateys - [¢307 00FT TV.LOL
00 1£THD) 00 1€T %1 000 00 1€TH1 000 JWSIA vl 9108 HUOD F-VAAI 00-000-0TES-00+2-02€ "80C
WuIpy paeys - (82077 00pT
(L9 9LY'6T)S L99LY'6TS 0008 LY9ILY'6TS 00°08 Aderdyy ressdyd 0612 TV.LOL
6107/0€/9 610T/0€/9 6102/0¢/9
- 810Z/1/L - 8107/1/L - 8102/1/L uondrIosa(] / 22qUIN nody
Susurewy palaqunousy
unowy 2 wadg Junowy  SadURIqUINOUY pousg pauoday  398png pardopy

oFelLzZ # Hoday

s9po9 103[qO pue uoposun4g spund ||y - sesuadxy
Jo143siIg uolun Auosiniadng 9)s| puels)




£} 4o z) ebeg

Ndce:avel 610¢/8L/1

(00'sL)S 00°SLS 00°SLS 00°08 00°08 wei3ead JueaSi pue T3 0017 TVLOL
(00'sL) 00°SL 00°SL 000 000 1D A3 Joid/juo) LS9 15-000-0LTS-001T-9TE PEC
wgagoag Jusadi pue 119 0012
(00°s61)S 00°S6¥S 00°S6¥S 00°08 00°0S euononysuy 9011 TVILOL
(00°0£€) 00°0€E 00°0¢E 000 000 SIVIAIOG [BUOISSIJOI] paseyind - 1§94 00-000-0TES-0011-9C¢ "€€T
(00s91) 00°691 00°¢91 000 000 SeouaIuUO) - LSF 00-000-06TS-0011-9T¢ TET
feuondnASuy 0O I
LSHY 9¢€
8€'L9T°T91S 0€°L1L'T01S 00°0% 0£°L1LT01S 89'V86v9TS JUN0IDY JUdWIS.INGUIDY uoyedupy [e13dS pT€ TVILOL
8€°L9T°T91S 0E°LIL'TOIS 00708 0€°L1L'T01S 89'786'19CS uoyBWIP.100) P 1819948 07HT TV.LOL
a9zLL) 19°CLL 000 19°CLL 000 poddng 20150-300[g Pl [€192dS 00-000-019S-0THTHTE "1€T
00'ser1) 00°S€t'1 000 00'SEP°L 000 "A3( [euoissajold Jjeis oas Hoddas 00-000-062S-0TYe-+T€ 0€T
6T°L6T 80°¢ST 000 80°¢ST LE0SS souRINSU] UoIsIA-Ya0[g PY [e109dS 00-000-18TS-0THT-+TE 67T
9L 09 89'8¢6 000 89'8¢€6 Py EPS’T soueInSU] |eIuap-0[g pd [e193dS 00-000-087S-0THT-+TE '8TT
0T'16¢ 000 000 000 0’16t "dwo)) “Kojdwoun-yoo1g py |e1oads 00-000-09T$-0THT-+TE LTT
1LPSE 000 000 000 1L$SE°1 ‘dwo) sxax1om-oo[g pH [8193dS 00-000-05TS-0THT-FTE 9TT
18'€PE’S 0S°0SL°C 000 05°0SLC 1€'%60°8 usWANRY0IY PH [8199dS 00-000-0¥TS-0THT-HTE "STT
00°0¢€€ 00°01C 000 00°01T 00°0tS oourmsu] o177 pg je1oads 00-000-0£CS-0THT-HTE +TT
TETES6 $0°0L19 00°0 P0O0LE9 9€'70L°S1 VOId p100D -Xo0ig pg 22dS 00-000-07TS-0THT-HTE "€TT
69'9S9VT 96'€68°9 000 96°€68°9 $9'8¥S°1€ 90UBINSU] YJeaY-y20]g PH [e193dS 00-000-012S-0THT-IE "TTT
(01°69L°5€) 01°69L°s€ 000 01°69L°S€ 000 Istje1nadg jeiotaeyag 00-000-S115-0TrT-¥2€ 127
1€°6ELLST €CYTS'LY 0070 £E VTS LY ¥9°65T°50T Atefes 'pIoo)) pg vads-yooig pH [e102dS 00-000-011$-0THI-¥TE 0T
uopeuIpIoo)) py [e1dg 0THT
JUNOYIV JUAWISINGUINY uopeINpy [819dS pTe
(s 6v¥'91)8 SL'6¥Y' 918 00°0SZ'1S SL'661°S1S 00°08 [ooyasald g VICI 1T€ TVLOL
6102/0¢/9 6107/0¢€/9 610T/0€/9
- 810T/1/L - 810U/1/L - 810T/1/L uondiosaq / JGUINN N0y
Surureway] palaquInouyg
unowy 2 Juodg JuUnowry  SIOUBIQUNOUL pouag pauoday  398png paydopy

ovELT # Hoday

sapo9 30alqO pue uoiodun{ spund ||y - sasuadxgy
Jou43s1g uolun Auosiniadng 9)s| puelds)




€l jo g1 abed

Ndce:9v-ct 6102/8L/1L

GL'STY'GES' IS  LOEHP'LICTS  £SLSEISLS P1980°0F1°TS 98 1L0'LOLYS TVLOL ONVYD
(68'LSLS)S 68°LSL'SS 00°08 68'LSLSS 00708 PIRIIPIN 6Z€ TVIOL
(F6°908'P)S $6'908°bS 0008 $6'908vS 0008 JURWISSISSY 1SID 17T TV.LOL
(F0'8¢) #0°8¢ 000 ¥0'8€ 000 JUSWIRINY [OUdLD) - PIEIPIN (0-000-0CS-1TET-6TE '6€T
(06:L£¢€) 06'LEE 000 06'LEE 000 VYOI [8913]D - PIRDIPIN 00-000-0TT$-1TET-6CE '8ET
001+ 00 1Py 000 00 1EV Y 000 SaLIR[eS PIedIPAA 00-000-011S-1TET-6TE LET

JWIWSSISSY (1S19 17€T

(56'056)S S6'0S6S 00°08 $6°056% 00°0S SWEAB0.1J SROAUL[PISIA 011 TV.LOL

(s6'056) $6'056 000 $6'056 000 HN weisold [e150S  £5-000-07€S-01%1-6Z€ '9€C
swea80.4J SNOIUBIIISIIA 01H1
PIBdIPIIN 6TE

(00°006°€)$ 00°006°€S 00°08 00°006°€S 00°08 LASdA LI€ TVIOL
(00'006°€)S 00°006'€S 00°08 00°006°€S 00°08 Susann paaeys - (8307 $E1Z TV.LOL
(00006°¢) 00'006°€ 00°0 00°006°€ 000 owdinby sondwo) - 38NN - LASAA 00-000-0£LS-PE1T-LTE "SET

Suis.any paaeys - [807 $EIT
14Sda LT€

(00°0L9)$ 00°0LSS 00°0LSS 00708 00°0$ 1SA9 97€ TV.LOL

6102/0€/9 610T/0€/9 6102/0%/9

- 810T/1/L - 8102/1/L - 810TU/1/L uondnosa(] / 1QUINN JUNody
Sutureway pajequInous]
junowy 29 Juadg Junowy  ssouBIqUINOUY poudd pauodoy  198png pardopy

9vE£1LZ # Hoday

sapo9 10alqO pue uoi3ouny spund ||y - sesuadxg

Jousiqg uolun Aiosialadng ays| pue.s)




